I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Timothy Haag asks this Court to accept review of the 

Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Timothy Haag seeks review of the Opinion filed by Division II of 

the Court of Appeals on September 10, 2019, as amended September 17, 

2019. Copies are attached as Appendix A. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the superior court comply with the requirements of the 

Miller-fix statute when it clearly understood what it was 

required to consider, but nonetheless abused its discretion and 

sentenced Haag to a de facto life sentence despite finding 

significant rehabilitation and remorse? 

2. Did the Court of Appeals err when it affirmed a de facto life 

sentence for a person who is not "irredeemably depraved nor 

irreparably corrupt"? 

3. Did the Court of Appeals Err when it found that Haag failed to 

provide authority that a 46-year sentence was a de facto life 

sentence, when Haag cited multiple scholarly articles and 

studies supporting the fact that a 46-year sentence is a life 

sentence? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On August 17, 2018, Haag filed a brief alleging that the trial court 

had erred with regard to the above-indicated issues. Below are the facts 

pertaining to the issues upon which he seeks review. For a more 

comprehensive review, the opening appellate brief sets out facts and law 

relevant to this petition and is hereby incorporated herein by reference. 

1. The Miller Re-Sentencing 

After spending 24 years in prison, more than half his life, for a 

cnme he committed when he was less than two months past his 17th 

birthday (CP 47), Timothy Haag was given hope for a new lease on life in 

January 2018. As part of the "Miller fix" statute passed in 2014, Haag was 

automatically entitled to a new sentencing hearing where the judge would 

be obligated to "take into account mitigating factors that account for the 

diminished culpability of youth as provided in Miller v. Alabama, 132 S. 

Ct. 2455 (2012); RCW 10.95.030, 035. 

He had reason to hope; Haag was no longer the same person he 

was back in 1994 and proved it daily in prison through his performance in 

his work and participation in various programs. CP 54-55, 61. At the 

hearing, two experts spoke at length about the trauma and deep emotional 

issues that preceded the murder and were unequivocal about his readiness 
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to return to the outside world. RPII 6-91, CP 61-95. Even the judge 

agreed that Haag "has reached a significant level of rehabilitation" and 

"has exhibited a stellar track record in prison and has been assessed as a 

low risk for violently re-offending." RPI 27. The court, even while 

discounting the uncontroverted expert testimony, found that Haag was 

"not irretrievably depraved nor irreparably corrupt." RPI 25. 

Unfortunately, this hope proved false when he was sentenced to an 

additional 22 years purely for retribution. RPI 25. 

2. Haag in 1994 

Twenty-four years ago, then just 17-year-old Timothy Haag was an 

emotionally fragile and immature teenager, isolated and without a healthy 

way to work through his emotions. He was the youngest of five children. 

CP 62, 87. At the age of five, his parents separated, and his mother was 

often forced to work two jobs and frequently had to move her family. CP 

63. At various points during those years, Haag slept in a tent outside the 

trailer where the rest of the family stayed, lived with his brother on the 

dairy farm he lived and worked at, and then finally moved in to the home 

of his stepfather, Bob, in Longview, WA. Id. In the two years Bob lived 

with Haag's mother, Haag was berated, mocked, yelled at, and threatened 

with eviction and arrest if he ever acted up. CP 64. Haag moved to a new 

school where he was bullied for his weight and had few friends. Id., CP 

600. Haag realized that he was gay, but did not feel free to tell anyone, 
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even his mother. CP 71. Haag was confused and guilt-ridden over his 

attraction to men; he was ashamed of himself and felt alone. CP 71-73. 

In the midst of this shame and isolation at school and at home, 

Haag found refuge in his friendship to his neighbor, Alex Dillard. Over the 

approximately two years they were neighbors, they saw each other almost 

every day: playing video games, play-fighting with wooden swords, and 

just hanging out together. CP 71. Haag began to have feelings for Alex but 

felt forced to hide it due to Alex's disparaging comments toward "queers" 

and "faggots." Id. On top of this, Haag grew increasingly angry at the 

physical abuse suffered by Alex at the hands of his family. CP 601. In 

May 1994, Alex ran away from home to escape his abusive stepfather, was 

placed in foster care, and then left the state. CP 53, 67. 

Haag became a "volcano of emotion" but had no way of 

addressing it. CP 73. On July 9, 1994, Haag exploded and killed Alex's 

sister, 7-year-old Rachel Dillard. CP 53. Haag choked and drowned her. 

Id. To this day, Haag regrets those "horrible" actions that ended the life of 

the young girl and caused so much pain to her family. CP 75. Haag was 

ultimately convicted by the jury of aggravated first-degree murder. Per 

RCW 10.95.030, he was automatically given a life sentence without 

parole. CP 33, 34, 35-41. 
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3. Haag in Prison 

When he was sentenced, Haag resigned himself to spending the 

rest of his life behind bars but resolved to be better than his worst act. 

RPII 63. In the past 21 years, he has not received a single infraction. CP 

55. In his time spent at Walla Walla State Penitentiary and later Stafford 

Creek Corrections Center (where he transferred to be closer to his mom), 

Haag has taken advantage of the classes, programs, and work 

opportunities at the prison, along with the Jehovah's Witness faith 

community, to work continuously to be a better man. CP Exhibit 7, RPII 

162-163. The first year in prison, he earned his high school diploma. CP 

54, RPII 162. He then took additional college courses and participated in 

the anger/stress management program, computer courses, a dog-training 

program, a custodial certification program, and is currently enrolled in the 

redemption program which focuses on giving inmates the skills to 

successfully return to the outside world where he's training to be a 

facilitator so that he can help others. CP 54-55, Exhibit 7; RPII 163. He 

held several jobs in prison. CP 54, RPII 158-159, 162-163. He is noted to 

be "an excellent worker who gets along well with others, [who] has very 

good work ethic, is a self-starter, and is reliable." CP 54-55, 89. See 

Exhibit 7 - DOC certificates. 
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4. Character References 

Everyone who has known Haag in prison have spoken highly of 

him. Lou Ann Anderson, his case worker at Stafford Creek, _with whom he 

checks in daily, has stated that "I never use the word never except for 

Timothy Haag. He never gets in trouble, he's never disrespectful; he never 

gets write ups ... Timothy is well-adjusted. He's easy to get along with; he 

follows rules; he speaks his mind appropriately." CP 54-55. She describes 

him as a mature person who is not deserving of a life sentence and is 

prepared to succeed on the outside. CP 54-55. 

Dorcy Lang, a former fellow inmate of Haag's, spoke at the re

sentencing hearing, describing Haag as a caring person who reached out to 

him and other inmates to help them adjust to life in prison. RPII 153, 155. 

He described him as a mature person who has learned to control his anger: 

"I've never seen an angry moment of him in prison ... He knows how to 

work out his -his anger, his frustrations." RPII 157. 

Kenneth Pierson, a prison chaplain who has known Haag almost 

his entire time in prison, now describes Haag as a "man of value and 

integrity" RPII 100-104, with whom he has built a friendship over the 

years and even trusts with his personal cell phone number. RPII 103-107. 

He describes Haag as a man who works and always treats others with 

respect. RPII 100-06. He told the court Timothy Haag was now a mature 

man, who would be welcome in his home. RPII 107-109. 
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5. Re-Sentencing 

At the Miller re-sentencing hearing, Haag presented the testimony 

of Kenneth Pierson, Dorcy Lang, and his mother, along with the expert 

testimony of Dr. Ronald Roesch and Dr. Marty Beyer. Both psychologists 

concluded that, had Haag been assessed in 1994 using the SA VR Y 

(Structured Assessment of Violence Risk in Youth), he would have been 

given a low risk score. CP 77, 92. 

Dr. Marty Beyer detailed in her report how Haag "was traumatized 

by the combination of losing his father, living in poverty, being picked on 

for years at school, psychological maltreatment by his stepfather, the 

sudden loss of his best friend and his fears about the rejection he would 

experience if his sexual orientation was revealed." CP 62. He functioned 

younger than his chronological age emotionally, and "His tragic offense 

was the result of an unexpected explosion of his untreated grief, anger, and 

shame. His offense was an anomaly." Id. 

Dr. Ronald Roesch also used the HCR-20 to assess Haag's current 

, risk of violence and recidivism. CP 92. Consistent with the results of the 

SAVRY, the PREA (Prison Rape Elimination Act) assessment, 1 and the 

Level of Service Inventory (LSI), 2 Dr. Roesch scored Haag as having a 

low risk ofreoffending. CP 93. Like Dr. Beyer, he concluded that, 

1 Administered by the prison. CP 89. 
2 Also administered by the prison. CP 89. 
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[H]is offense appears to have been a highly impulsive one, 
made in response to anger toward the victim's family that 
had been building up for some time. In his adolescent mind, 
this was a way to take revenge for what he perceived as 
abusive treatment of his friend Alex, with whom he was 
strongly attracted but had never spoken to him about his 
feelings toward him. He did not consider alternative ways 
to cope with his feelings, in large part because he was 
embarrassed about his homosexuality and was unable to 
disclose it to anyone. 

CP 94. He concluded that Haag "has matured and has become a 

responsible adult" who "does not have any mental health issues or anger 

problems that would place him at risk for future offending." Id. 

The prosecution did not introduce any contravening witnesses or 

evidence, but instead focusedon the nature of the crime. RPI 113-22. 

6. Judge Evans 

At sentencing, the Judge expressed sympathy for the victim's 

family. RPI 16. He expressed concern that Haag had not had counseling, 

RPI 22, although he completed anger management in prison, RPI 89, and 

both experts said that he did not have any anger or mental health issues 

that that would put him at risk of offending. Id. at 62, 94. The Judge 

expressed concern that the stability prong of the HCR-20 was not 

administered, Id. at 23, although Dr. Roesch, stated that the relationship 

stability factor is only one of ten factors of the Historical prong of the 

assessment which is itself only one-third of the entire assessment and it's 

8 



omission did not affect the doctor's confidence in the result. CP 92-94. 

Judge Evans also relied on a statement by the victim's brother, Alex 

Anderson regarding Haag's interest in death. RPl 24. These allegations 

were never substantiated or presented in any other context. 

Further, despite the uncontested and unquestioned reports of actual 

trauma when he was a child, Judge Evans generically described Haag's 

young life as a "mixed bag of positive and challenging circumstances, not 

unlike others" and made a point of rhetorically aging Haag. CP 62, RP 1 

20. He twice called Haag a "man" at the time of the murder and made 

repeated references to Haag's large weight at the time and the difference 

in ages between Haag and the victim. RPI 18, 27. 

Judge Evans accepted that Haag "has reached a significant level of 

rehabilitation," "has likely aged out of what is called adolescent-limited 

delinquency," and "is not irretrievably depraved nor irreparably corrupt." 

RPI 25. He also noted that "Haag has expressed what I judge to be sincere 

remorse and sorrow for his actions." RPI 25. Nevertheless, he went on to 

say that "rehabilitation is not the sole measure in sentencing. Retribution 

holds that punishment is a necessary and deserved consequence for one's 

criminal act. Under the retributive theory, severity of the punishment is 

calculated by the gravity of the wrong committed." RPI 25. In this case 

the wrong was the single murder of a young white girl. 
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Although he concluded by listing the factors he had to "weigh," his 

earlier statements about the rehabilitation of Haag and the retributive 

nature of sentencing made it clear that the only consideration was how 

much more to punish a person who, by all accounts, has been 

rehabilitated. 

RPI 27. 

So the Court is faced with the daunting task of properly 
weighing a multiplicity of factors, which include a vile, 
cowardly, and particularly heinous multi-step strangulation 
and drowning of a defenseless, sixty-five pound little girl 
committed by a three hundred pound seventeen-year-old 
young man that resulted in a convicted for aggravated 
murder in the first degree. I'm also to consider the then
youthful brain of Mr. Haag with diminished decision
making capacity, who simultaneously lived through some 
very difficult circumstances while still enjoying a 
supportive relationship and activities. And also, a man 
convicted of murder who has exhibited a stellar track 
record in prison and has been assessed as a low-risk for 
violently re-offending. 

The court sentenced Timothy Haag to a minimum sentence of 46 

years to life. RPI 27, CP 756-766. With his current sentence, Haag will 

only be eligible for parole at the age of 63 at which point he'll have lived 

almost three-quarters of his life in prison. Life expectancy in the prison 

system makes this sentence another life sentence. 
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V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

It is submitted that the issues raised by this petition should be 

addressed by this Court because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 

conflict with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions and raises 

significant questions under the Constitution of the State of Washington 

and the Constitution of the United States, as well as in the public interest, 

as set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2), (3) and (4). Significantly, this Court 

has recently accepted review in State v. Delbosque, l 93 Wn.2d 1008 

(2019), a decision in direct conflict with this case. 

1. The Superior Court Abused its Discretion When it Sentenced 
Haag to a De Facto Life Sentence Despite Finding Significant 
Rehabilitation and Remorse, Failing to Comply With the 
Requirements of the Miller-Fix. 

"Children are different"3 has been the theme of the recent string of 

Supreme Court decisions on juvenile4 sentencing cases. Miller v. 

Alabama, 567 U.S. 460,471, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). A 

court conducting a Miller resentencing abuses its discretion when it "acts 

without consideration of and in disregard of the facts" or relies on 

speculation and conjecture in disregard of the evidence. See Dyer, 164 

Wn.2d at 286 (quoting In re Pers. Restraint of Dyer, 157 Wn.2d 358, 363, 

139 P.3d 320 (2006)) ( explaining when the Indeterminate Sentence 

3 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2470 (2012). 
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Review Board abuses its discretion in setting minimum terms). During 

a Miller resentencing hearing, the court must "fully explore the impact of 

the defendant's juvenility on the sentence rendered." Ronquillo, 187 

Wn.2d at 443 (quoting Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 543, 765 S.E.2d 572 

(2014)). 

The Miller Court required that sentencing courts consider the 

"mitigating qualities of youth," including an offender's youth and 

attendant characteristics, before imposing a particular penalty. 567 U.S. at 

476, 132 S. Ct. 2455. These attendant circumstances include: 

chronological age, immaturity, failure to appreciate risks and 

consequences, the circumstances of the homicide offense, and the 

possibility of rehabilitation. Delbosque, 430 P. d at 1156. Bassett,. 198 

Wn. App.714, 725, 394 P.3d 430. (2017). 

Before Miller, Washington law imposed a mandatory sentence of 

life without the possibility of release or parole for an offender convicted of 

aggravated first-degree murder, regardless of the offender's age. Bassett, 

198 Wn. App. at 726, 394 P.3d 430. In response to Miller, our legislature 

enacted the Miller-fix statute, which, in part: 

In setting a minimum term, the court must take into account 
mitigating factors that account for the diminished 
culpability of youth as provided in [Miller] including, but 

4 Note: By "juveniles," I refer to persons under 18 years old. 
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not limited to, the age of the individual, the youth's 
childhood and life experience, the degree of responsibility 
the youth was capable of exercising, and the youth's 
chances of becoming rehabilitated. 

RCW 10.95.030(3)(b). 5 RCW 10.95.035(1) requires that juveniles 

sentenced to life without the possibility of parole be resentenced consistent 

with the Miller-fix statute. See State v. Delbosque, 6 Wash.App.2d 407, 

413-16, 430 P.3d 1153, 1158-59 (2018), review granted, 193 Wn.2d 1008 

(May 1, 2019). 

The Delbosque op1mon, also from Division Two of this court, 

addressed the same issue present here but reached a contrary conclusion. 

In Delbosque, a jury found Cristian Delbosque guilty of aggravated first

degree murder committed when he was 17 years old. Id. at 410. The 

superior court imposed a life sentence without the possibility of parole. Id. 

In 2016, under RCW 10.95.030 (the Miller-fix statute) and RCW 

10.95.035, the superior court held an evidentiary hearing and entered an 

order imposing a minimum term of 48 years with a maximum term of life 

imprisonment. Id. at 409-10, 1155-56. The court held that the superior 

court's findings regarding Delbosque having an attitude towards others 

reflective of the underlying crime, and of Delbosque's permanent 

5 Our Supreme Court recently held that this subsection 3(a)(ii) of RCW 10.95.030, 

requiring a minimum 25 year sentence for juveniles over 16, but under 18, at the time of 

an aggravated murder charge is unconstitutional under the Washington Constitution 
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incorrigibility and irretrievable depravity were not supported by 

substantial evidence and the court failed to comply with the Miller-fix. Id. 

at 414, 1158. The sentence was reversed and remanded for resentencing. 

Id. at409-10, 1155-56. 

Miller held that because juveniles have diminished culpability and 

greater prospects for reform, "'they are less deserving of the most severe 

punishments."' 567 U.S. at 471, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (quoting Graham v. 

Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 68, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010)). In 

making this determination, the Court relied on three gaps between children 

and adults: children display a lack of maturity and an underdeveloped 

sense of responsibility, they are more vulnerable to outside pressures and 

negative influences, and their traits are less likely to be evidence of 

irretrievable depravity. Miller, 567 U.S. at 471. Miller also determined 

that the distinctive attributes of youth diminish the penological 

justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, 

even when they commit terrible crimes. 567 U.S. at 472. Because the heart 

of the retribution rationale relates to an offender's blameworthiness, the 

case for retribution is not as strong with a minor as with an adult. Miller, 

567 U.S. at 472. Nor can deterrence do the work in this context, because 

the same characteristics that render juveniles less culpable than adults-

because sentencing juvenile offenders to life without parole or early release constitutes 
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their immaturity, recklessness, and impetuosity-make them less likely to 

consider potential punishment. Id. at 472. Similarly, deciding that a 

juvenile offender forever will be a danger to society would require making 

a judgment that the juvenile is incorrigible, but incorrigibility is 

inconsistent with youth. Id. at 4 72-73. 

At Timothy Haag's Miller hearing, two experts spoke at length 

about the trauma and deep emotional issues that preceded the murder and 

were unequivocal about his readiness to return to the outside world. RPII 

6-91, CP 61-95. Testimony from people who knew him in prison 

expanded on this and showed the court the efforts he went to be a better 

person and help others. RPII 96. Even the judge agreed that Haag "has 

reached a significant level of rehabilitation" and "has exhibited a stellar 

track record in prison and has been assessed as a low risk for violently re

offending." RPI 27. The court, even while discounting the uncontroverted 

expert testimony, found that Haag was "not irretrievably depraved nor 

irreparably corrupt." RPI 25. 

Nonetheless, the court sentenced Timothy Haag to a minimum 

sentence of 46 years to life. RPI 27, CP 756-766. With his current 

sentence, Haag will only be eligible for parole at the age of 63 at which 

point he'll have lived almost three-quarters of his life in prison, if he is 

cruel punishment. State v. Bassett, 192 Wash.2d 67,428 P.3d 343 (2018). 
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even given parole. Life expectancy in the pnson system makes this 

sentence another life sentence. See Cummings, Adele & Nelson Colling, 

Stacie, There is No Meaningful Opportunity in Meaningless Data: Why it 

is Unconstitutional to Use Life Expectancy Tables in Post-Graham 

Sentences, Vol.18:2; UC Davis Journal of Juvenile Law & Policy 268; 

State v. Ronquillo, 190 Wn. App. 765, 771-775, 361 P.3d 779 (2015). This 

sentence, and the sentencing court's statements make manifest its failure 

to comply with RCW 10.95.030, the Eight Amendment of the U.S. 

Constitution and Article 1 § 14 of the Washington State Constitution. 

2. The Court of Appeals Committed the Same Mistake as the 
Trial Court When it Affirmed a De Facto Life Sentence When 
Haag Was Not "Irredeemably Depraved Nor Irreparably 
Corrupt". 

Judge Evans accepted that Timothy Haag "has reached a 

significant level of rehabilitation," "has likely aged out of what is called 

adolescent-limited delinquency," and "is not irretrievably depraved nor 

irreparably corrupt." RPI at 25. He also noted that "Haag has expressed 

what I judge to be sincere remorse and sorrow for his actions." RPI 25. 

Considering these findings, the trial court abused its discretion when it 

then sentenced Haag to 46 years, a de facto life sentence. 

"The United States Supreme Court viewed the concept of "life" 

in Miller and Graham more broadly than biological survival; it implicitly 
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endorsed the notion that an individual is effectively incarcerated for "life" 

if he will have no opportunity to truly reenter society or have any 

meaningful life outside of prison." Casiano v. Commissioner of 

Corrections, 317 Conn 52,115 A.3d 1031, 1047 (Conn. 2015). 

Because juveniles effectively sentenced to spend their life in prison 

must have a meaningful opportunity for a resentencing hearing that 

comports with Miller, the principles underlying adult sentences -

retribution, incapacitation, and deterrence - do not extend to juveniles in 

the same way. Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 71, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 2029, 

176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010). Potential release in a persons' late sixties is 

insufficient to address the concerns in Graham or Miller, as it does "not 

provide a 'meaningful opportunity' to demonstrate the 'maturity and 

rehabilitation' required to obtain release and reenter society as required by 

Graham." Iowa v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71 (Iowa 2013). Our case is 

similar, the prospect of geriatric release does not provide a meaningful 

opportunity for Haag to reenter society. 

3. Haag Citations to Scholarly Studies and Cases in Haag's 
Opening Brief, the Court of Appeals Ruling Erroneously 
Faults Haag for Failing to Provide Authority That a Sentence 
Of 46 Years Sentences Haag to Spend The Rest of His Life in 
Prison. 

Sections IV.I (a) & (d) of Haag's openmg brief specifically 

address the life expectancy of an individual serving a lengthy prison 
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sentence. A 46-year minimum sentence is tantamount to a life sentence. 

Only after serving 46 years would Haag be eligible for a review by the 

ISRB, which would then decide if he would be paroled. If the board 

decided not to release him, Haag would have to wait another 5 years 

before again petitioning for release. RCW 10.95.030(3)(±). 

46 years is a life sentence. The United States Sentencing 

Commission defined a life sentence as 470 months (39.16 years) or more. 

US Sentencing Commission, "US Sentencing Commission Quarterly Data 

Report: Fiscal Year 2017", pg. 28, n. 1, A-7.6 This definitions is based on 

the median age of sentencing of 25 years 7 and the life expectancy for a 

person in general prison population, which for a 25 year old, would equate 

to a life expectancy of 64 years old. See id. at A-7. The average life 

expectancy for men in the United States is 76.1, but prison accelerates the 

negative consequences of aging. See Mortality in the United States 2016, 

NCHS Data Brief, No. 293, December 2017.8 There is substantial research 

on the negative effects of prison on life expectancy. See Pridemore, 

William Alex, The Mortality Penalty of Incarceration: Evidence From A 

6 Available at available at https://www.ussc.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/research-and
publications/federal-sentencing-statistics/quarterly-sentencing-updates/USSC-
2017 _Quarterly_ Report _Final.pdf. 
7 Of note, is Haag was only 17 years old and 39 days at the time of his offense, thus 
serving 8 more years than the median age of 25. He was incarcerated from July 9, I 994 
onward. 
8 Available at https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db293 .pdf. 
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Population-Based Case Control Study Of Working-Age Males, Journal of 

Health and Social Behavior, vol. 55, no. 2, (2014); Patterson, Evelyn PhD, 

The Dose-Response of Time Served in Prison On Mortality: New York 

State, 1989-2003, Am J Public Health, Vol. 103, No 3, Mar 2013; 

Chammah, Maurice, Do You Age Faster in Prison?, The Marshall 

Project, August 24, 2015.9 A study in Michigan suggested that adjusting 

for the length of sentence and race resulted in a significant shortening of 

life expectancy; life expectancy for Michigan adults incarcerated for 

natural life sentences was 58.1 years. ACLU of Michigan Life Without 

Parole Initiative, Michigan Life Expectancy Data for Youth Serving 

Natural Life Sentences. 10 That number is even lower for those who began 

their sentences as children. Id. Michigan youth serving a natural life 

sentence were found to have an average life expectancy of 50.6 years. Id. 

Although Miller did not categorically bar a sentence of life in 

prison for a juvenile convicted of homicide, it came close. It held that such 

a severe sentence, even for a horrible crime, is constitutionally permissible 

only in the rarest of circumstances where there is proof of "irreparable 

corruption." Miller, 567 U.S. at 478-79; see also Montgomery v. 

Louisiana, 136 S. Ct. 718, 193 L. Ed. 2d 599 (2016). "[P]risoners ... 

9 https://www.themarshallproject.org/2015/08/24/do-you-age-faster-in-prison. 
10 available at, https://fairsentencingofyouth.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/02/Michigan
Life-Expectancy-Data-Youth-Serving-Life.pdf. 
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must be given the opportunity to show their cnme did not reflect 

irreparable corruption; and, if it did not, their hope for some years of life 

outside prison walls must be restored." Id at 736. 11 And, the Washington 

constitution provides greater protections. Bassett, 192 Wn.2d 67. 

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals 

decision is contrary to law, as argued above, and raises significant issues 

of due process and public interest. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The sentencing court's fixation on retribution for the cnme 

overshadowed its obligations to conduct a sentencing that meets the 

requirements of Miller, the Eighth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution, and Article 1 § 14 of the Washington State Constitution. This 

court should accept review for the reasons indicated in Part V and remand for 

resentencing.