I. IDENTITY OF THE RESPONDENT 

Respondent State of Washington, represented by David Phelan, 

asks this Court to deny the Petition for Review. 

II. SHORT ANSWERS TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Issue #1 as presented by Petitioner: 

"Did the superior court comply with the requirements of the Miller-fix 

statute when it clearly understood what it was required to consider, 
but nonetheless abused its discretion and sentenced Haag to a de facto 
life sentence despite finding significant rehabilitation and remorse?" 

The Hon. Judge Michael Evans complied with the requirements of the 
Miller-fix statute when he gave the Petitioner a full and complete 
opportunity to present a mitigation package that included the 
testimony of several experts and character references. He did not, 
however, agree with the Petitioner's recommendation of a minimum 
term of 25 years and instead chose to sentence Petitioner to a term of 
46 years, allowing him the opportunity for parole when he is 63 years 
old. This issue, as presented by the Petitioner, is simply a 
disagreement with the outcome and does not meet any of the 
requirements in RAP 13.4(b ). 

Issue #2 as presented by the Petitioner: 

"Did the Court of Appeals err when it affirmed a de facto life sentence 
for a person who is not 'irredeemably depraved or irreparably 
corrupt'?" 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the lawful sentence of 46 years and 
correctly held that such a sentence was not a de facto life sentence. 

Issue #3 as presented by the Petitioner: 

"Did the Court of Appeals err when it found that Haag failed to 
provide authority that a 46-year sentence was a de facto life sentence, 
when Haag cited multiple scholarly articles and studies supporting 
the fact that a 46-year sentence is a life sentence?" 
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The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the sentence because 
Petitioner failed to show that such a sentence was a de facto sentence 
as defined by this Court in State of Washington vs. Ramos. Petitioner 
did not provide any evidence that the sentence exceeded that 
"average human life-span." 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Respondent generally accepts the Petitioner's recitation of 

the facts, but would add a few specific notations for the court's 

consideration. 

Judge Evans had access to the transcript of the original jury 

trial and read it entire. RP 183. The trial transcript was filed by the 

Respondent before the re-sentencing and is marked as CP 81. 

The actual murder was monstrous. At trial, Petitioner testified 

that he had killed Rachel Dillard, that he had strangled her, put a belt 

around her neck, and then put her in the bathtub. CP 564-565. He 

testified that he put his hands on her neck and strangled her as she 

cried. CP 569. When that didn't work, he testified he left her on the 

bed crying, then went to his closet and grabbed a belt and looped it 

around her neck. CP 570-572. He then put her in the bathtub to 

"make sure" that "she wasn't alive anymore." CP 574. He then took 

her out of the bathtub, tied her up, and put a plastic bag around her 

head. CP 575. He testified he put the bag there because "things were 

coming out" and that "there was stuff on the mouth." CP 575. The 

"stuff on her mouth" was the frothy mix of air and water that shows 

she was still alive when he drowned her in the bathtub. CP 273. He 
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then hid her under his bed. CP 575. Officer Geizler of the Longview 

Police Department found Rachel under his bed, naked, with a bag over 

her head, and with her ankles bound. CP238. Rachel Dillard's cause 

of death was a combination of manual strangulation, ligature 

strangulation (the belt), and drowning. CP 275. 

The sentencing court at the resentencing specifically 

acknowledged the Petitioner's youthful brain development and 

attendant issues including impulsivity, lack of regulation regarding 

judgments and decisions, the inability to properly weigh and perceive 

risk, and the inability to assess long-term consequences. RP 19. The 

sentencing court acknowledged the diminished culpability that comes 

with a youthful brain. RP 20. The court found that Petitioner was 

neither irreparably corrupt or irretrievable depraved. RP25. 

The Petitioner's claim that Judge Evans referred to Mr. Haag as 

a "man" at the time of the murder appears to be incorrect. He did 

refer to Petitioner as a "seventeen-year-old young man." His next use 

of the word "man" came in context of discussing his post-conviction 

track record and clearly does not refer to Petitioner as he was at the 

time of the crime. 

Judge Evans did make reference to the Petitioner's weight at 

the time and the difference in ages, but such reference is obviously 

appropriate given that such a weight difference likely played a role 

when Petitioner strangled the little girl. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. ISSUE #1: THE SUPERIOR COURT COMPLIED WITH ALL 
THE DICTATES OF MILLER AND THE SENTENCE WAS 
LAWFUL AND APPROPRIATE 

The sentencing court properly imposed a 46 year to life 

sentence after a conducting a full resentencing hearing. Judge Evans 

conducted a multi-day resentencing hearing, gave the Petitioner every 

opportunity to present witnesses and experts on his behalf, and 

carefully weighed and analyzed all the arguments and evidence 

presented. Judge Evans gave an oral ruling that covered all of the 

evidence provided by Petitioner and examined the ways in which the 

evidence applied to the Miller factors. Judge Evans left no stone 

unturned and Petitioner's claims regarding the conduct of the court 

amount to simple disagreement with the way the court chose to weigh 

the evidence. As the court of appeals noted, citing Ramos, this court 

"determined that the defendant could not show a Miller violation 

where the re-sentencing court considered the mitigation evidence, 

was aware of its sentencing authority, and reasonably considered the 

issues identified in Miller when imposing its sentence." State v. Haag, 

No. 51409-5-II, citing State v. Ramos, 187 Wn.2d 420,453, 387 P.3d 

650, cert denied, 138 S. Ct. 46 7 (2 017). The court of appeals opinion 

covers this in detail and the Respondent would respectfully refer this 

Court to that opinion for reference. 
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The Petitioner's claim comes down to a simple disagreement with 

the sentence and with the outcome of the trial court's evaluation, not 

whether the trial court actually complied with the specifics of Miller. 

Such a disagreement does not rise to the level of a "significant question of 

law under the Constitution" of Washington or the United States, nor does 

such disagreement involve an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 

13 .4(b )(3 )&( 4). 

The sentencing court properly sentenced Petitioner to a 46 year to 

life sentence, appropriately weighed all the necessary factors, and did not 

base its sentence on any unlawful factors. The Petition for Review should 

be denied. 

B. ISSUES #2&#3: THE SENTENCE IMPOSED WAS NOT ADE 
FACTO LIFE SENTENCE, SO THE COURT OF APPEALS 
COMMITTED NO ERROR 

The sentencing court did not impose a de facto life sentence 

and the Court of Appeals appropriately found that the sentence was 

not, in fact, a de facto life sentence. There is no evidence in the record 

regarding Petitioner's life expectancy, nor any individualized 

information regarding any health issues or other things that might 

affect his life expectancy. He would be eligible for parole when he 

was 63 years old and there is no evidence in the record or before this 

Court that his life expectancy would not extend past that time. The 

sentence imposed in this case was not a de facto life sentence. 
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A de facto life sentence is, as this Court has previously held, a 

sentence that results in "a total prison term exceeding the average 

human life-span - that is, a de facto life sentence." Ramos, 187 Wn.2d 

at 434, 387 P.3d 650. Even under the 76.1-year estimate of the 

average human life-span adopted by the Petitioner, the 46 year

sentence would result in the possibility of parole at the age of 63 (Pet. 

For Review pg. 18). Most importantly, there was no evidence 

provided specific to the Petitioner for why he might have a reduced 

life sentence. No evidence of medical issues or other things which 

might reduce his life expectancy. 

There is a vast gulf between life without parole and the 46 to 

life with the possibility of parole sentence. Such a gulf cannot be 

cannot be overcome with simple attestations. Prospective release at 

63 does not amount to a de facto sentence of life without parole. 

Because the sentence was not a de facto life sentence, this Petition 

should be denied. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The issues raised in the Petitioner do not involve a split 

between different courts of appeals, or a conflict with an existing 

Supreme Court case. Nor does the Petition raise issues of substantial 

public interest, or questions involving a significant question of law. 

Ultimately, the Petition comes down to a disagreement with the 

factual findings and sentence imposed, but such a disagreement, 
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based as it is on the fact that the trial court interpreted the facts 

provided at the sentencing hearing differently that the Petitioner 

wanted, does not mean that this is a case appropriate for review by 

this Court. This Court should deny the Petition.